FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/26/2018 8:44 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 96459-9 No. 49899-5-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WENDY ANN MURRAY as PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF CARL MURRAY, a deceased career professional firefighter, for and on behalf of the Estate and RCW 4.20.020 beneficiaries,

Appellate,

v.

CITY OF VANCOUVER, a municipal subdivision of the State of Washington,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Ron Meyers WSBA No. 13169 Matthew Johnson WSBA No. 27976 Tim Friedman WSBA No. 37983 Attorneys for Petitioner

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
Π.	DECISION
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1
	1. Did the Appellate and Superior Court's decision to dismiss Murray's survival claims based on the statute of limitations conflict with decisions of the Appellate Courts and Supreme Court and the Supreme Court's pattern jury instruction 12.07?
	2. Did the Appellate and Superior Court decision to dismiss Murray's outrage claim conflict with decisions of the Appellate Courts and Supreme Court?
	3. Did the Appellate and Superior Court's decision to dismiss Murray's strict liability claim conflict with decisions of the Appellate Courts and Supreme Court?
	4. If the Court reverses any issues on appeal is the wrongful death cause of action reinstated, where the dismissal was based upon an agreed condition reinstating the wrongful death cause of action should any issue be reversed on appeal?
	5. Are the issues herein of substantial public interest?
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 6
	A. Survival Claim6
	A1. Appellate Court Conflicts With This Court's Decision to Apply the Discovery Rule When Plaintiffs Cannot Have Immediately Known of Their Injuries Due to Concealment of Information by the

	Defen	dant 7
	of Act	A2. The Appellate Court Violates This Court's Decision That the Discovery Rule, All of the Essential Elements of the Cause tion Must be Known or Constructively Known by the Plaintiff e the Cause of Action Accrues
		A2(I) No Notice of the COV's Breach or of Causation 10
	B.	Strict Liability
	C.	Outrage
	D.	Wrongful Death Claim and Other Claims
	E.	Substantial Public Interest
VI.	CON	CLUSION20
	APPE	ENDIX A - Division II Court of Appeals Decision
	(NIOS	ENDIX B - National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health SH) Registry of Toxic Effects of Chemical Substances RTECS E3750000
	APPE	ENDIX C - RCW 51.32.185 Legislative findings - 1987 c 515
	APPE	ENDIX D - Table of fire station levels in excess of 3.9 pCi/L

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp. 158 Wash. 2d 566, 146 P.3d 423, 431 (2006), as corrected (Nov. 15, 2006) 13
Arnold v. Laird 94 Wash. 2d 867, 621 P.2d 138 (1980)
Contreras v. Crown Zellerbach Corp 88 Wash. 2d 735, 565 P.2d 1173 (1977)
Green v. A.P.C. (Am. Pharm. Co.) 136 Wash. 2d 87, 960 P.2d 912 (1998)
<i>In re Marriage of Murphy</i> 48 Wash. App. 196, 737 P.2d 1319 (1987)
Klein v. Pyrodyne Corp. 117 Wash. 2d 1, 810 P.2d 917, 920, amended, 117 Wash. 2d 1, 817 P.2d 1359 (1991)
Matter of Estate of Hibbard 116 Wash. 2d 1023, 812 P.2d 102 (1991) 6
Proctor v. Huntington 169 Wash. 2d 491, 238 P.3d 1117 (2010) 13
Reid v. Pierce Cty. 136 Wash. 2d 195, 961 P.2d 333 (1998)
Robel v. Roundup Corp. 148 Wash. 2d 35, 59 P.3d 611(2002)
Snyder v. Med. Serv. Corp. of E. Washington 145 Wash. 2d 233, 35 P.3d 1158 (2001) 16

White v. Johns-Manville Corp. 103 Wash. 2d 344, 693 P.2d 687 (1985)
Yurkovich v. Rose 68 Wash. App. 643, 847 P.2d 925 (1993)
Statutes
RCW 41.26
RCW 41.26.270
RCW 41.26.281 5, 14, 15, 20
RCW 49.17.060
RCW 51.32.185 Legislative findings 12, Appendix C
RCW 70.162.005
Other Authority
Black's Law Dictionary 117 (9th ed. 2009)
ER 201
National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) Registry of Toxic Effects of Chemical Substances RTECS No. VE3750000
RAP 2.2(a)(1)
RAP 13.4(b)(1)
RCP 13.4(b)(4)
WAC 296-305 8, 15, 20

WAC 296-305-01005
WAC 296-305-01503(1)
WAC 296-305-01507
WAC 296-305-01507(3)
WAC 296-305-01509(1)(a)
WAC 296-305-01509(6)
WAC 296-305-01513
WAC 296-841-099
WAC 296-841-100
WAC 296-841-20020
WAC 296-841-20021
WAC 296-901-14010
WPI 12.07 1. 5. 6. 11. 12. 20

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Wendy Ann Murray as Personal Representative of the Estate of Carl Murray, Appellant, petitions this Court for review of the decision designated in Section II.

II. DECISION

Appellant seeks review of the Division II Court of Appeals decision, filed on September 26, 2018 and attached in the *Appendix A* hereto, which affirmed, in part, the Superior Court's order granting partial summary judgment and dismissing the survival, strict liability and outrage claims.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Appellate and Superior Court's decision to dismiss Murray's survival claims based on the statute of limitations conflict with decisions of the Appellate Courts and Supreme Court and the Supreme Court's pattern jury instruction 12.07?
- 2. Did the Appellate and Superior Court decision to dismiss Murray's outrage claim conflict with decisions of the Appellate Courts and Supreme Court?
- 3. Did the Appellate and Superior Court's decision to dismiss Murray's strict liability claim conflict with decisions of the Appellate Courts and Supreme Court?
- 4. If the Court reverses any issues on appeal is the wrongful death cause of action reinstated, where the dismissal was based upon an agreed condition reinstating the wrongful death cause of action should any issue be reversed on appeal?
- 5. Are the issues herein of substantial public interest?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For over twenty years, Carl Murray ("Murray") was a firefighter for the City of Vancouver ("COV"). In 2010, he was diagnosed with lung cancer.

Prior to Murray's diagnoses, the COV knew (a) that radon was a colorless, odorless radioactive gas that presented a serious health risk (b) that the U.S. EPA ranks indoor radon among the most serious environmental health problems, (c) that indoor radon is the second leading cause of lung cancer in the U.S., and (d) that the Portland and Vancouver area has numerous radon "Hot Spots" *CP 27, 29, Appendix A to Appellant's Opening Brief to Court of Appeals, pgs. 53 and 32.*

Also prior to Murray's diagnosis, the COV was repeatedly informed by a professional radon testing company that "The US EPA action level for an acceptable level of radon is 4.0 pCi/L." *Appendix A to Appellant's Opening Brief to Court of Appeals, pgs. 41, 46, 49.* Prior to Murray's diagnosis, the COV knew that the EPA and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention recommend that homes with radon levels at 4 pCi/L or higher **should be fixed**. *CP 29*.

During at least the roughly twelve years prior to Murray's untimely death, the COV was **knowingly** exposing Murray at various COV fire stations to levels of radon in excess of 3.9 pCi/L. *Appendix A to Appellant's*

Opening Brief to Court of Appeals, pgs. 33, 36, 37, 38, 41, 42, 45, 48, 59, 62, 72, 77, 78. See Appendix D hereto. During the roughly nine-year period prior to his diagnosis, testing revealed radon levels in the twenties, thirties, forties, eighties, and one result was 172.1 pCi/L. id, pgs. 33, 36, 37, 38, 41, 42. Despite the alarmingly high levels of radon to which COV firefighters were being exposed, between September, 2001 and Murray's death, the COV allowed multiple lapses in radon testing at its stations: No testing from: 11/22/2001 to 5/2/2002; from 5/18/2002 to 11/6/2005; from 7/11/2006 to 3/8/2011; from 3/12/2011 to 1/22/2013. See id, pgs. 33-93. On July 30, 2013, Murray died from metastatic lung cancer. id, pg. 106.

One time, on October 16, 2001, Murray signed a "Hazardous Material Exposure Report" pertaining to a supposed exposure that occurred in 1992, but this document **did not** give any fire station radon test results, **did not** disclose any radon levels in the COV's fire stations, and did not even disclose whether the COV had tested the radon levels. *CP 46-47*.

In 2009 the COV sent materials by email to Murray about **residential** radon which (1) did not **not** give any information on radon in fire stations, (2) did **not** give any fire station radon test results (3) did **not** give any radon levels in the COV's fire stations; (4) did **not** assert whether or not radon had been found in the COV's fire stations, (5) and **did not** even assert that any

firefighter had been exposed to Radon in the COV's fire stations. CP 27-34.

In 2011, Division Fire Chief Roxy Barnes had email correspondence with Murray that also did nothing to convey any appreciable radon exposure to Murray at the COV's fire stations. *CP 36-40*.

There is no evidence in the record before the Superior or Appellate Court that the COV ever, even once, informed Murray (a) of any specific radon level to which he was exposed; (b) that the COV had even tested for radon in its fire stations; and (c) that he was exposed to radon at or above the "action-level" of 4 pCi/L. The COV concealed this information from Murray – despite its requirement to disclose exposure information under WAC 296-305-01509(6); WAC 296-841-20020 and other WAC provisions.

The COV, through its inaction and concealment, misled and misrepresented a sense of safety at its fire stations. This is because it was the COV's legal obligation to (a) establish, supervise, maintain and enforce, in a manner which is effective in practice, work surroundings of an employee with minimum exposure to unsafe acts and/or unsafe conditions; (b) furnish to each of its employees a place of employment free from recognized hazards that are causing or likely to cause serious injury or death to his or her employees, and (c) notify the firefighters of exposures to unsafe levels of radon – the COV never informed Murray of radon at its fire stations at or

above the action level of 4 pCi/L and never informed Murray that he had been repeatedly exposed to radon at or above the 4 pCi/L.

Prior to three years before this action was filed, Murray did not know of the COV's breach, nor that radon was the cause of his cancer. *Appendix A to Appellant's Opening Brief to Court of Appeals, pgs. 103-107.* Nor should Murray have known this. Prior to three years before filing this action, Murray could not have immediately known that his disease was from occupational radon exposure in the COV's fire stations, because the COV concealed exposure information that it was required by law to disclose.

The Appellate Court's decision conflicts with multiple decisions by this Court in the application of the discovery rule, ignores this Court's jury instruction WPI 12.07, conflicts with this Court's "reasonable inquiry" decision in *White v. Johns-Manville Corp.*, 103 Wash. 2d 344, 693 P.2d 687 (1985) improperly narrows the scope of RCW 41.26.281, precludes a firefighter from pursuing a strict liability claim against its government employer, which conflicts with this Court's decision in *Klein v. Pyrodyne Corp.*, 117 Wash. 2d 1, 810 P.2d 917, 920, amended, 117 Wash. 2d 1, 817 P.2d 1359 (1991), ignores this Court's "relationship of the parties" consideration in *Contreras v. Crown Zellerbach Corp.*, 88 Wash. 2d 735, 565 P.2d 1173 (1977), and conflicts with the "reasonable minds" rule quoted by

this Court in Robel v. Roundup Corp., 148 Wash. 2d 35, 51, 59 P.3d 611(2002).

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. SURVIVAL CLAIM: The Appellate Court's decision is in direct conflict with this Court's holding in *Matter of Estates of Hibbard* and this Court's Washington Pattern Jury Instruction (6th Ed) 12.07, which state in pertinent part, respectively:

"Application of the [discovery] rule is limited to claims in which the plaintiffs could not have immediately known of their injuries due to [. . .] occupational diseases, [. . .] or concealment of information by the defendant.

. .

Every person has the right to assume that others will [. . .] comply with the law, and a person has a right to proceed on such assumption until he or she knows, or in the exercise of ordinary care should know, to the contrary."

The Appellate Court's decision is also in direct conflict with this Court's decision that under the discovery rule, **all** of the essential elements of the cause of action must be known or constructively known by the Plaintiff before the cause of action accrues. *White v. Johns-Manville Corp., id at 348*. In Murray's case, there was no evidence in the record before the trial or Appellate Court of actual or constructive notice by Murray prior to three years before he filed suit, that he was being exposed to unacceptable levels of radon [breach], or that radon exposure caused his cancer [causation]. The

COV actually blamed firefighting.

A1. APPELLATE COURT CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION TO APPLY THE DISCOVERY RULE WHEN PLAINTIFFS CANNOT HAVE IMMEDIATELY KNOWN OF THEIR INJURIES DUE TO CONCEALMENT OF INFORMATION BY THE DEFENDANT

It is the employer, not the firefighter, who bears responsibility for identifying health hazards, performing an investigation of exposure to occupational disease-causing chemicals or physical agents, ensuring record-keeping of exposures, and documenting the findings of the preliminary investigation after incidents resulting in exposure to occupational disease-causing chemicals or physical agents. See WAC 296-305-01507, WAC 296-305-01507(3), WAC 296-305-01503(1). When exposure occurs, the employer must disclose to its firefighters all relevant information, which will provide information to all employees relative to hazardous chemicals or substances to which they are exposed, or may routinely be exposed to, in the course of their employment." WAC 296-901-14010, [emp added] See WAC 296-305-01509(6).

Within five (5) business days after the employee's exposure results is known to the employer, the employer is required by law to **notify employees of any exposure result**, to an airborne hazard, above a permissible exposure level ("PEM"). See WAC 296-841-20020.

Murray asks this Court to take judicial notice under Evidence Rule

201 that radon is listed in the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) Registry of Toxic Effects of Chemical Substances (RTECS), RTECS No. VE3750000. *See Appendix B hereto*. And so radon is a "toxic substance" under WAC 296-841-099 and an "airborne contaminant that may become an airborne hazard in some workplaces" under WAC 296-841-100.

The COV's fire stations were tested for radon in 2001, 2002, 2005, 2006, 2011 and 2013. Each year produced radon levels well above 3.9 pCi/L. Appendix A to Appellant's Opening Brief to Court of Appeals, pgs. 33, 36, 37, 38, 41, 42, 45, 48, 59, 62, 72, 77, 78.

The COV concealed exposure information from Murray – despite its requirement to disclose under provisions in WAC 296-305 and WAC 296-841-20020. The Appellate Court's opinion conflicts with this Court's decisions extending the accrual of the statue of limitations to account for the concealment of information by the defendant.

A2. THE APPELLATE COURT VIOLATES THIS COURT'S DECISION THAT UNDER THE DISCOVERY RULE, ALL OF THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CAUSE OF ACTION MUST BE KNOWN OR CONSTRUCTIVELY KNOWN BY THE PLAINTIFF BEFORE THE CAUSE OF ACTION ACCRUES

Information conveyed to Murray via documentation sent to him from the COV in 2009 indicates that average indoor radon level is about 1.3 pCi/L in the U.S., and that the EPA recommends that Americans consider fixing their homes when the radon level is between 2 pCi/L and 4 pCi/L. *CP 29*. In 2009 the COV sent Murray a document via email that represented that the EPA and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention recommend that homes with radon levels **at 4**pCi/L **or higher** should be **fixed**. *CP 29*. The inference from this information sent to Murray by COV in 2009 is that certain amounts of radon are permissible and thus not harmful.

In fact, the legislature found that "[iI]n **some** circumstances" (it does not say "all circumstances") exposure to radon may cause adverse health effects, including respiratory illness. [Emp added]. *See RCW 70.162.005*. And so, even if Murray had been informed that he was exposed to radon in the COV fire stations, that alone is not providing adequate (or appreciable) information "relative to" the exposure levels. Information "relative to" exposure would include at a minimum, the level and frequency of the radon exposure and whether the exposure posed a safety or health risk. This is especially so, given the implication from the COV to Murray that certain levels of radon are permissible.

There is **NO** evidence in the record that the COV **ever** notified Murray that he was exposed to radon at any specific level, or even in more general terms, that he was exposed to "unacceptable" levels of radon.

This Court was clear: "[...] under Washington's discovery rule, a

cause of action does not accrue until a party knew or should have known the essential elements of the cause of action—duty, breach, causation, and damages." *Green v. A.P.C. (Am. Pharm. Co.)*, 136 Wash. 2d 87, 95, 960 P.2d 912 (1998).

Murray knew he had lung cancer in 2010. CP 59, 72. But at no point prior to three years before filing this action, did Murray know, nor should he have known, that (a) the COV was exposing him to unacceptable levels of radon [breach of the COV's duties], and (b) that exposure to radon in the fire stations caused his cancer [i.e. causation]. The COV blamed firefighting.

A2(i) NO NOTICE OF THE COV'S BREACH OR OF CAUSATION

According to information provided to Murray from the COV in 2009, testing is the only way to know if the "home" is under the EPA action level of 4 pCi/L or the "only way to know if you are at risk." *CP 28, 38, respectively.* It was COV's duty to test, not Murray's.

There is **no** evidence in the record that the COV ever, even once, informed Murray that it had **tested** its fire stations for radon, nor is there any evidence in the record that the COV ever disclosed the test results to Murray. And so if **testing** is the only way to know, and because the record has no evidence that testing results were conveyed to Murray, then as a matter of law he could not have had actual knowledge.

It is the responsibility of **management** to establish, supervise, maintain and enforce, in a manner which is effective in practice, a "safe and healthful working environment," as it applies to both nonemergency and emergency conditions. *See WAC 296-305-01509(1)(a)*. "Safe and healthful working environment" is defined as "The work surroundings of an employee with minimum exposure to unsafe acts and/or unsafe conditions." *WAC 296-305-01005*. *See also, RCW 49.17.060*; *WAC 296-305-01513*.

This Court's Jury Instruction 12.07 states: "Every person has the right to assume that others will [...] comply with the law, and a person has a right to proceed on such assumption until he or she knows, or in the exercise of ordinary care should know, to the contrary." [emp added]. WPI 12.07. "The jury had to be informed of the law governing defendants' conduct in order to evaluate Crawford's actions, because Crawford was entitled to act on the assumption that defendants would follow the law." Yurkovich v. Rose, 68 Wash. App. 643, 654-655, 847 P.2d 925 (1993).

Murray had the legal right to assume that if he were being exposed to impermissible levels of radon, or if there were exposure results known to the COV above the acceptable radon level, the COV would comply with the law (WAC 296-305-01509(6); WAC 296-841-20021) by notifying him.

Because Murray was not so notified, he had the right to assume and

proceed with the assumption that he was not being exposed to impermissible levels of radon in the COV's fire stations. Murry also had the right to assume and proceed with the assumption (because he was not notified otherwise) that the COV was complying with the law by maintaining, in a manner which was effective in practice, a safe and healthful working environment (WAC 296-305-01509(1)(a)), and that the COV was furnishing him with fire stations free from recognized hazards that are causing or likely to cause serious injury or death to him. RCW 49.17.060.

Nonetheless, the Appellate Court decided that in 2011 the statute of limitations began to accrue. The Appellate Court's decision not only conflicts with this Court's Jury Instruction 12.07 and this Court's discovery rule, but also with this Court's decision in *White*, *id* at page 355 that:

"It is unreasonable to expect or require, as a matter of law, the ordinary wrongful death claimant to initiate and conduct the massive research necessary to prove the causal link between occupational exposure and resulting cancer; such research takes numerous years and vast resources. This may be particularly true in cases of occupational diseases where information relevant to asbestos related deaths sometimes is not available to the claimants but is in the exclusive control of the defendant corporation."

"Legislative findings—1987 c 515: "The legislature finds that the employment of firefighters exposes them to smoke, fumes, and toxic or chemical substances." *Appendix Chereto*. "Up until the time of his death, no

cause other than his exposures responding to calls was even been [sic] mentioned by any of Carl's doctors as the causes of his lung cancer. None of them ever even mentioned radon." *Appendix A to Appellant's Opening Brief to Court of Appeals, pgs. 107.*

Murray had no legally triggered duty at any time prior to three years before he filed suit to make inquiry to whether radon was the cause of his cancer, because the COV never notified him of any appreciable radon exposure. The COV did have such a duty.

The COV's failures to comply with the exposure laws should not be used against the firefighter to pre-maturely start the SOL clock. "One should not be allowed to benefit from his or her wrongdoing, [...]" *In re Marriage of Murphy*, 48 Wash. App. 196, 203, 737 P.2d 1319 (1987).

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