FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/28/2019 2:16 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96459-9

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WENDY ANN MURRAY as PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF CARL MURRAY, a deceased career professional firefighter, for and on behalf of the Estate and RCW 4.20.020 beneficiaries,

Petitioner,

VS.

CITY OF VANCOUVER, a municipal subdivision of the State of Washington,

Respondent.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

CITY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE VANCOUVER, WASHINGTON

FOLEY & MANSFIELD, PLLP

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

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The City does not now, nor has it ever, conceded that its actions fell short of what chapter 296-305 WAC requires. Regardless, where the Estate's argument misses the point is its assumption that these regulatory provisions alter the common law discovery rule and are therefore material to the statute of limitations issue. They are not.

The [discovery] rule delays accrual of the cause of action only until the claimant knew *or reasonably should have known* of the facts necessary to establish the cause of action. It does not delay accrual until the claimant knows that she has a legal cause of action, and *the claimant must exercise reasonable diligence in pursuing a legal claim*.

*Murray*, slip op. at 6 (quoting *Allen v. State*, 60 Wn. App. 273, 275, 803 P.2d 54 (1991), *aff'd*, 118 Wn.2d 753, 826 P.2d 200 (1992) (first italics added by *Murray*, second italics added).

Every Supreme Court case cited by the Estate adheres to this same principle. *In re Estate of Hibbard*, 118 Wn.2d 737, 826 P.2d 690 (1992), reaffirmed that "this court continues to emphasize the exercise of due diligence by the injured party." *Id.* at 746. Applying that emphasis, the Court reinstated summary judgment in favor of the State against a rape victim who claimed negligent supervision of a probationer. *Id.* at 752-53. Rejecting the same argument the Estate advances here, the Court upheld the dismissal of the claim against the State because of the absence "in the record [of anything] to indicate that prior to [the expiration of the statute of limitations] that any attempt was made by respondents or plaintiff to determine the liability of the State." *Id.* at 750. In short, the Court of Appeals' analysis is fully consistent with *Hibbard*.

The next case cited, *White v. Johns-Manville Corp.*, 103 Wn.2d 344, 693 P.2d 685 (1985), does not aid the Estate. The issue in *White* was whether the discovery rule could apply after a decedent passes away. *Id.* 

at 345. The case came to this Court on certification from the federal district court on "stipulated facts." Id. Importantly, it was "stipulated" for purposes of that case "that the decedent never knew that he was suffering from any adverse effects of exposure to asbestos-containing materials," and that the personal representative "did not learn until [over four years after the decedent's death] that his death may have been due to asbestos exposure." Id. (emphasis added) In fact, the Court there stressed that it was "not faced with ... a case in which the deceased is alleged by the defendant to have known the cause of the disease which subsequently caused his death." Id. at 347 (emphasis added). Here, the decedent (Carl) knew he was suffering from a disease (lung cancer), and—five years before the lawsuit was filed—discussed with a colleague the perceived link between his cancer and radon. CP 36-40. Thus, the Court of Appeals' conclusion is fully consistent with White's holding: "The statute of limitation pertinent to a survival action commences at the earliest time at which the decedent or his personal representatives knew, or should have known, the causal relationship between the decedent's exposure to asbestos and his ensuing disease." *Id.* at 360 (emphasis added).

The final case cited as a RAP 13.4(b)(1) basis for review is 1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp., 158 Wn.2d 566, 146 P.3d, 423 (2006), where this Court equated a construction defect case to medical

malpractice lawsuits in which "a surgical instrument is left in the plaintiff's body during surgery." *Id.* at 579. But in so doing, the Court reaffirmed that "a plaintiff cannot ignore notice of possible defects," and is under a duty to "make further diligent inquiry to ascertain the scope of the actual harm" the instant he or she "is placed on notice by some appreciable harm occasioned by another's wrongful conduct." *Id.* at 581 (quoting *Green v. A.P.C.*, 136 Wn.2d 87, 96, 960 P.2d 912 (1998)). In other words, when a person suffers appreciable harm, a duty of due diligence arises. As the authority on which *1000 Virginia Ltd.* relied said, "One who has notice of facts sufficient to put him upon inquiry is deemed to have notice of *all* acts which reasonable inquiry would disclose." *Green*, 136 Wn.2d at 96 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

The Court of Appeals' analysis below conflicts with none of these authorities. It correctly held that "the City presented undisputed evidence that Carl received and responded to emails that specifically identified a link between his exposure to radon at the fire stations" by January 2011 at the latest. *Murray*, slip op. at 6. The Court of Appeals then noted that if Carl had "exercised due diligence at that time, ... [he] could have obtained all the information regarding radon testing and mitigation efforts that Wendy later received when the City responded to her public records request." *Id.* at 7. Not only does this analysis fully comport with *Hibbard*,

White, and 1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship, it also adheres to other precedent from this Court that the Estate overlooks entirely. E.g., Reichelt, 107 Wn.2d 772-73 (in occupational disease case, rejecting contention that discovery rule would toll statute of limitations until plaintiff meets with lawyer and is advised of possible civil claim). The Estate's argument that the Court of Appeals' opinion is inconsistent with this Court's precedent is unpersuasive and simply incorrect. Given that the Estate has advanced no other case from this Court with which the Court of Appeals' opinion even arguably conflicts, review is plainly unwarranted under RAP 13(b)(1).

The same can be said about RAP 13.4(b)(4). By way of illustration, this provision justified review in a case that could have affected "every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County ... where a [drug offender sentencing alternative] sentence was or is at issue." *State v*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Highlighting the Estate's misguided legal analysis is its reliance on a quotation from *In re Marriage of Murphy*, 48 Wn. App. 196, 737 P.2d 1319 (1987), and its claim that an alleged conflict with a pattern jury instruction is sufficient to justify Supreme Court review. First, *Murphy* examined a statute relating to modification of parenting plans, and the quotation on which the Estate relies actually comes from Judge Green's dissent relating to whether "an innocent party [should] lose custodial privileges because of a situation created by [a different parent's] wrongful acts." *Murphy*, 48 Wn. App. at 203 (Green, J., dissenting). An out-of-context quotation from a Court of Appeals dissent having nothing to do with the statute of limitations or discovery rule hardly qualifies as uncertainty in the law sufficient to justify Supreme Court review.

Second, RAP 13.4(b) does not authorize review based upon a perceived conflict with a pattern jury instruction, particularly in case such as this that involved no jury instructions at all. To that end, there is no authority interpreting or applying WPI 12.07 or the principle of law it conveys in the context of the statute of limitations. *Cf. Hopkins v. Seattle Pub. Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 195 Wn. App. 96, 102 & n.2, 380 P.3d 584, *review denied*, 186 Wn.2d 1029 (2016) (reversing jury verdict in favor of school district alleged to have negligently supervised students, noting trial court's failure to instruct jury on special relationship between school and student was reversible error).

*Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). This is not that case here. The opinion below is unpublished, meaning it does "not ... have precedential value." RCW 2.06.040. To be sure, the entire section the Estate devotes to RAP 13.4(b)(4) contains only conclusory statements having no bearing on the statute of limitations. Put simply, the Estate's petition does not "involve[] an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. The Court of Appeals' adherence to the legislative abolition of all civil causes of action other than negligence and intentional torts is fully consistent with the lone Supreme Court case cited by the Estate.

The Court of Appeals next followed the plain language of RCW 41.26.270 to explain: "LEOFF explicitly abolishes 'all ... civil causes of actions by ... firefighters against their governmental employers' except as otherwise provided by LEOFF." *Murray*, slip op. at 7 (quoting RCW 41.26.270). The Estate mentions RCW 41.26.270 only in passing, and then attempts to twist its language to assert the statute "does not abolish civil causes of actions by firefighters against their government employers for personal injuries or sickness." Mot. for Disc. Rvw. at 14. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the legislature's directive was explicit.

Building off of its mistaken paraphrasing of RCW 41.26.270, the Estate then contends that because the "[c]ommon law provides for a cause of action for strict liability," that cause of action was salvaged by RCW

41.26.281. Mot. for Disc. Rvw. at 14. Not so. As the Court of Appeals correctly found, "The plain language of RCW 41.26.281 specifically limits the City's liability [to its employed firefighters] for *intentional* or *negligent* acts." *Murray*, slip op. at 8 (emphasis added). As is confirmed in the Estate's petition, the theory of strict liability advanced by the Estate was for an alleged "abnormally dangerous activity," which Washington employs to allow plaintiffs to recover without proof of either intentional or negligent conduct. *Hurley v. Port Blakely Tree Farms L.P.*, 182 Wn. App. 753, 761, 332 P.3d 469 (2014), *cited and followed in Murray*, slip op. at 8.

The Estate claims this conclusion conflicts with *Klein v. Pyrodyne Corp.*, 117 Wn.2d 1, 810 P.2d 917 (1991), but it does not. *Klein* concluded that the discharge of fireworks was an abnormally dangerous activity for which a defendant could be strictly liable to spectators injured thereby. *Id.* at 7-8. In so doing, *Klein* emphasized that such a defendant would be liable "even though [the activity] is carried on with all reasonable care." *Id.* at 7 (quoting RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 520, cmt. f (1977)). Nothing in *Klein* suggested that what RCW 41.26.270 and 41.26.281 require—proof of negligence or intentional acts—was needed to recover under strict liability. More fundamentally, nothing in *Klein* speaks to an employer's liability to its employees, thereby undermining the Estate's reliance entirely.

Despite this, the Estate contends that "[p]ermitting strict liability for acts that are not intentional or negligent does not preclude strict liability for acts that are negligent or intentional." Mot. for Disc. Rvw. at 14 (boldface in original). This argument misses the point because the trial court did not limit the Estate's ability to pursue a negligence theory with its June 10, 2016, partial summary judgment order. CP 83. What it actually did—and what the Court of Appeals properly affirmed—was preclude the Estate from establishing liability without proof of negligence or an intentional act. Murray, slip op. at 8. That is exactly what RCW 41.26.270 and 41.26.281 require. Review is not warranted on this issue.

# C. Not one case cited by the Estate even arguably conflicts with the Court of Appeals' affirmance of the trial court's order dismissing the outrage claim.

The Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's dismissal of the Wendy Murray's outrage claim "because the City conducted regular radon testing and attempting mitigation when high levels of radon were identified at the City's fire stations," and because the City "was performing regular radon testing and making mitigation efforts." *Murray*, slip op. at 10-11. Drawing a distinction to case law that did find a genuine issue as to outrage, the Court of Appeals further noted that "the City did not alter test results or refuse to disclose information regarding radon testing." *Id.* at 11; *cf. Birklid v. Boeing Co.*, 127 Wn.2d 853, 867-68, 904

P.2d 278 (1995) (employer could be liable for outrage by engaging in "human experimentation," "cleaning and ventilating the workplace immediately before testing by government agencies to skew the test results," and "oppressive behavior by Boeing supervisors").

The Court of Appeals' conclusion is sound and supported by case law. Under *Birklid*, when a worker is statutorily barred from pursuing liability on anything other than intentional acts, outrage cannot be premised on alleged reckless conduct. *Birklid*, 127 Wn.2d at 872. That is the case with RCW 41.26.281. Consequently, the Estate could not advance Wendy's outrage claim past summary judgment without proof that the City acted *intentionally* to cause severe emotional distress. The Court of Appeals rightly concluded the Estate lacked such evidence.

None of the cases cited by the Estate hold to the contrary. *Snyder v. Medical Service Corp.*, 145 Wn.2d 233, 35 P.3d 1158 (2001), upheld the dismissal of a plaintiff-employee's outrage claim against her employer, reasoning that the plaintiff's supervisor acted outside the scope of employment when she threatened force against the plaintiff. *Id.* at 242-43. *Snyder* does not aid the Estate.

The second case cited, *Reid v. Pierce County*, 136 Wn.2d 195, 961 P.2d 222 (1998), also supports dismissal of Wendy's outrage claim. The Court there held the plaintiffs could not advance an outrage claim against

a coroner's display of their loved one's autopsy photographs because they were not present when the alleged outrageous conduct occurred. *Id.* at 203-04. That is the case here: there is no evidence Wendy Murray ever spent time at any Vancouver Fire Station alleged to have had elevated radon levels. *Reid* bolsters the Court of Appeals' decision.

The last case cited, *Robel v. Roundup Corp.*, 148 Wn.2d 35, 59 P.3d 61 (2002), also does not compel review. *Robel* reinstated a plaintiff's verdict based on unchallenged findings of fact following a bench trial. *Id.* at 40-42. The specific conduct found to be outrageous did not involve any allegation of workplace exposure, but rather constant harassment of the plaintiff's disability and multiple defamatory statements. *Id.* at 40-41, 52-53. *Robel* does not stand for the rule that the Estate desires, namely that each and every outrage claim is immune to summary judgment. Were that the case, the Court would need to overrule cases such as *Dicomes v. State*, 113 Wn.2d 612, 631, 782 P.2d 1002 (1989), which the Estate makes no effort to distinguish. In short, the Estate has shown only that the lower court's opinion conflicts with the Estate's desired outcome, as opposed to the requisite showing of a conflict with precedent.

# D. The remaining arguments in favor of the petition are unsupported and are insufficient to justify review.

The last two sections of the petition for review contain no authority from this Court, thereby undermining any contention that the Court of

Appeals' analysis conflicts with Supreme Court precedent. *Cf.* RAP 13.4(b)(1). The Estate's last resolve is to summarily claim, without support, that this case involves issues of substantial public interest. *Cf.* RAP 13.4(b)(4). As explained above, the Court of Appeals' unpublished analysis does not. Unlike cases involving all alternative sentencing in one of Washington's largest counties, *e.g.*, *Watson*, 155 Wn.2d at 577, this case involves a single fire department and one plaintiff. That falls far short of RAP 13.4(b)(4)'s demanding test.

### V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals' analysis is a sound and practical application of well-established law. It does not conflict with any decision of this Court, and the Estate falls far short of its burden to demonstrate that this case is of such substantial interest to warrant this Court's review.

For all of the foregoing reasons, the petition should be denied.